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Dear Shareholder,

Th e last fi nancial year 2007/2008 has seen a number of positive steps and achievements in Solagran’s stated mission to commercialize 
Bioeff ectives® A, B and R.

Th e company has made continued progress in the implementation of this strategy with most technical and operational activities progressing as 
planned.  

Review of the past Financial Year

During the fi nancial year, Solagran received approval from the Russian Ministry of Health for the registration, manufacture and marketing of 
Ropren® (the fi nished product form of Bioeff ective® R) in Russia.

Th e company commenced building an international corporate structure that will facilitate the spread of its products to other signifi cant markets 
around the world and allow the maximum repatriation of funds that can, in time, be devoted to the planned payment of  franked dividends to 
shareholders.

With this positive progress in regard to product approval and the international structure, it is very pleasing to be able to report to you on the 
completion of our Bioeff ectives® manufacturing facility in Tomsk, Siberia.

It has been a magnifi cent technical achievement by Solagran’s international staff  and consultants to construct and operate the fi rst commercial 
polyprenols manufacturing facility in the world. Solagran has demonstrated that it can manufacture Ropren® in commercial quantities.  At the 
time of writing, we are producing approximately 15 kg of Bioeff ective® R per month at levels of purity above that required for pharmaceutical 
production. Based on the current prescribed dosage this translates into 3,000 courses of Ropren® per month. During the year we confi rmed to 
the market our plans to increase production at the existing plant to 40kg or 8,000 courses per month by the end of June 2009. Th e Board has 
prepared future fi nancial projections based on a price of US$1,125 per course for hepatoprotective applications only. At the time of writing we 
remain convinced that this is still a conservative fi gure.

Th e past fi nancial year has also seen a number of major breakthroughs, each of which has added signifi cantly to the intrinsic value of Solagran.  
Th e most signifi cant of these are:

- Th e results of a successful clinical trial with chronic alcoholics which means Ropren® could be used for another quite signifi cant indication 
in Russia

- Th e approval for Solagran to build an additional production facility within the Tomsk Special Economic Zone
- Th e likely eventual registration of Bioeff ective® A as a pharmaceutical substance based on the fi ndings of the Pasteur Institute that 

it could have the potential to both prevent and treat Helicobacter pylori infections, and conditions associated with such infections. 
(H.pylori is responsible for a number of major gastrointestinal disorders and aff ects nearly 50 percent of the world’s population.)

Eff ect of External Factors

During the fi nancial year and until the date of writing a number of external factors have infl uenced the market perception of Solagran

- A fall in overall equities market prices which began in August 2007, continued in January 2008, and accelerated in September 2008
- Th e Opes Prime debacle and related problems in other margin lending companies that resulted in the ANZ Bank seizing and then selling 

just under 70 million Solagran securities or around 42% of the issued ordinary share capital of Solagran. 
- Short term irregular trading in Solagran securities.

I will off er some comments on each of these factors.

A MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN
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Fall in Equities Prices.  Th e fall in overall equities market prices has had an impact on sentiment towards many companies in the biotechnology 
sector.  But the fact that Solagran has low side eff ect solutions to a number of major chronic diseases for which there are currently no safe and 
eff ective treatments available is a critical consideration.  Demand for these treatments will not be aff ected greatly by an economic downturn.  So 
Solagran is in a better position than many other companies to emerge strongly from the current market downturn.

Opes Prime.  Th e Opes Prime debacle created a diffi  cult situation for Solagran and its shareholders.  Th e legality of the actions of the ANZ Bank 
in a number of transactions is still very much in doubt. Th e Corporations Act requires substantial shareholders to provide notifi cation of their 
existence. ANZ Bank had never advised Solagran of any position it held as a substantial shareholder although it now claims to have owned a 
substantial shareholding which it has sold in the market. Th e Board believes that the attempt by ANZ Bank to justify its failure to comply with 
this section of the Corporations Act deserves the comments it received from ASIC and looks forward to the ANZ Bank being forced into the legal 
system to explain a number of its actions to the community. However, I believe that the actions of the ANZ Bank had a signifi cant negative eff ect 
on the Solagran share price – and the share price of many other listed companies. Th is does aff ect the position of the Company when the Board 
considers raising funds for development of existing or the building of new production facilities as well as further clinical trials.  

Irregular Trading in Solagran Securities. Th e Board of Solagran is totally focused on the commercialisation of Bioeff ectives® and in the process, 
building a profi table international business that both assists the wellbeing of mankind and provides a fi nancial reward to shareholders.  We 
have always said that to achieve these multiple objectives will take time. On occasions during the fi nancial year the Board observed a fall in the 
market price of Solagran securities that it felt was inconsistent with the current status of the company. Aft er the collapse of Opes Prime the Board 
became aware of a company within the Opes Prime structure that we now believe was “shorting” Solagran securities for the purpose of short 
term profi t rather than making a longer term contribution as a shareholder. Your Board applauds the recent actions of the authorities in banning 
short selling and hopes that it becomes a permanent ban. For a developing company such as Solagran having a market price that refl ects the 
current status of the company is important in planning business development and future fund raisings. Our observations of occasional irregular 
trading in the market for Solagran Securities has heightened our desire to become reliant on profi ts for internal funding rather be subject to fund 
raising at a price that is determined by opportunistic profi t seekers. However as we have said before this will take time but we are confi dent it 
will happen.

Th e Future

Solagran has a very exciting future.  

Th e Board is proud of Solagran’s achievements over the past fi ve years. We have registered a pharmaceutical within fi ve years when the norm 
is twelve to fi ft een years.  We have conducted nearly 50 scientifi c and clinical trials.  And we have built the world’s fi rst commercial production 
facility for the extraction of plant polyprenols – an achievement that represents the culmination of more than 25 years work since our head of 
research, Professor Victor Roschin, fi rst isolated plant polyprenols at the end of the 1970’s.

Trials have been completed in St.-Petersburg which will allow for use of the injectible form of Bioeff ective® R in emergency treatment. We are 
working on innovative Ropren® delivery mechanisms including nanoparticles which we have trademarked Nanoeff ectivesTM. We are engaged 
in discussions with leading researchers in Australia and Russia in relation to conducting international multi-centre phased Alzheimers disease 
clinical trials.   And we are engaged in similar discussions with the Pasteur Institute together with one of the leading oncology institutes in St.-
Petersburg in relation to Bioeff ective® A.

Our practitioner only strategy with Bioeff ective® A in Australia and New Zealand is beginning to bear fruit, with practitioners in both countries 
recommending Bioeff ective® A for a range of conditions, including gastrointestinal disorders, and as a strong antioxidant which acts as a liver 
protector to off set the eff ects of alcohol consumption.  

Our Bioeff ective® B strategy has been completely revamped, with the initial focus on sauna manufacturers having only limited success due to 
changes in key personnel within those companies in Europe.  We now have a new team in place focusing on elite athletes and professional sporting 
teams in Australia, as well as on spas and hotels where Bioeff ective® B treatment can off er a unique experience.  

We are about to launch Bioeff ective® I – an anti-oxidant drink that has been trialed with great success by a number of Australian sports 
personalities over the past year.   

And fi nally, we are working closely with a major cosmetics manufacturer who will be incorporating Bioeff ectives® in a new line of products to be 
launched in 2009.

I would like to thank you most sincerely for your continued support through what has been a particularly challenging year for the company.  I 
also want to assure you that the Directors continue to have great faith in the company and its technology.  We have absolutely no doubt that 
Solagran’s technology will play a very signifi cant role in the international pharmaceutical industry and the worldwide improvement in human 
health using natural products.

Vagif Soultanov
Executive Chairman

17 October 2008

A MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN
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The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Solagran Limited (“the Company”) and the controlled 
entities (Solathera Limited and SibEX Limited) for the year ended 30 June 2008.

Directors
The following persons were Directors of Solagran Limited during the whole of the fi nancial year 2007/2008 and up to the date of 
this report: 

Dr Vagif Soultanov –  Executive Chairman 
Mr Denis Kilroy –   Executive Director 
Mr Charles Pellegrino –  Appointed Executive Director – 10 July 2007.
Mr Peter Stedwell –  Executive Director / Company Secretary

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company are the continuing research and commercial development of Bioeffectives along with the 
extension of patent protection for the extraction and applications of Bioeffectives. 

There were no signifi cant changes in the nature of the Group’s activities during the current year.

Dividends
The Directors recommend that no dividend be paid. No amounts have been paid as dividends during the fi nancial year and up to 
the date of this report.

Operating Results
The consolidated net loss of the Company for the fi nancial year, after providing for income tax of nil (2007 - nil), was $3,762,040 
(2007 - loss $3,649,964).

Review of Operations
During the fi nancial year the Company completed the acquisition of an 85% holding in SibEX Limited – a Siberian company 
based in Tomsk. Solagran has funded the development of a production facility at SibEX which, in the opinion of the Directors is 
the fi rst commercial scale plant capable of producing pharmaceutical grade polyprenols (Bioeffective R) using patent protected 
technology.

On 19 March 2008, the Directors advised that Ropren (the prescription form of Bioeffective R) had been cleared for sale in the 
Russian market.

During this fi nancial year the Company entered into an agreement with BioProspect Limited to license certain intellectual property 
rights in relation to certain Bioeffectives in regard to animal health, animal nutrition and agricultural markets in specifi ed areas.

On 1 November 2007 Solagran received 22,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares and 22,500,000 options (exercisable at $0.05 on or 
before 31 March 2010) as a license fee under this agreement.

Commercialisation of Products
During the fi nancial year the Company continued clinical studies, research and market development plans in accordance with its 

Dr Vagif Soultanov
Executive Chairman 

Mr Denis Kilroy 
Executive Director

Mr Charles 
Pellegrino

Executive Director

Mr Peter Stedwell
Executive Director / 
Company Secretary
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stated objective of completing the commercialisation process of Bioeffectives A, B and R.

Signifi cant Changes in the State of Affairs
The Company made a call of $0.05 per Contributing Share in February 2008. This call raised $2,408,705.40. 

The Contributing Shares (SLACF) are currently paid to $0.15 per share. The fi nal call of $0.05 per Contributing Share is scheduled 
for February 2009.

The Company had a series of Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.20, which expired on 30 April 2008. All Unlisted Options were 
exercised.  

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year
The Company reached a new agreement to secure the services of key scientists and administrators in Russia, considered critical 
to the ongoing Bioeffectives commercialising effort. It is planned to release details of this agreement to shareholders at the AGM 
planned for the last week of November, 2008.

The Directors announced that approval had been granted to construct a new and larger Bioeffectives production facility in the 
Tomsk Free Economic Zone that at full capacity will be able to produce 200kg per month of plant polyprenols (Bioeffective R) as 
well as other valuable Bioeffectives generated as by-products during the polyprenols production process. 

On 28 August 2008 Solagran acquired a further 9,839,041 ordinary shares in BioProspect Limited as a result of on market purchases. 
The Company advised BioProspect Limited that it now held 6.64% of the voting power in BioProspect Limited.

For the purposes of the Accounting Reports, the Directors have recorded a holding loss of $417,500 on the shares held in BioProspect. 
This amount represents the difference in market value at the date of issue to Solagran and at 30 June, 2008

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations
The Directors believe that the initial marketing of Ropren in Russia will provide strong sales revenue to the group in the fi nancial 
year 2008/2009.

Environmental Regulation
The consolidated entity is not subject to any environmental regulations within Australia.

In Tomsk, SibEX complies with certain environmental regulations relating to the collection of raw materials under an agreement with 
local regulatory authorities.

Information on Directors

Dr Vagif Soultanov 
Executive Chairman 
Experience and expertise
Dr Soultanov is the founder of Solagran and was the leader of the Bioeffectives research team in St Petersburg in the 1980’s. He 
is a scientist and a medical practitioner who came to Australia in 1990 to work with the CSIRO as part of an inter-governmental 
scientifi c exchange program. Vagif holds doctoral qualifi cations in organic chemistry. He has published over 60 scientifi c papers 
internationally and in Russia and personally holds a number of patents.

Other current directorships 
Dr Soultanov does not currently hold any other directorships in publicly listed companies.

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None.

Special responsibilities
Dr Soultanov is Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and responsible for the Research and Development activities of 
Solagran Limited.
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Mr Denis Kilroy
Executive Director
Experience and expertise
Mr Kilroy is the founder and Managing Director of the KBA Consulting Group, and MFV Software Pty Ltd. He has been a strategy 
consultant for over 25 years. Denis holds Bachelor of Engineering and Master of Engineering Science degrees from the University 
of New South Wales.

Other current directorships 
Mr Kilroy does not currently hold any other directorships in publicly listed companies.

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None.

Special responsibilities
Mr Kilroy is an Executive Director of the Company and responsible for the strategic planning and commercial objectives of Solagran 
Limited.

Mr Charles Pellegrino 
Executive Director
Experience and expertise
Mr Pellegrino has operated in public practice for approximately 15 years as an accountant and fi nancial advisor. He is the founder 
and director of the Stanford Group of Companies. Charles holds a Bachelor of Arts and a Bachelor of Business in Accounting. He 
provides Solagran with fi nancial advice and assistance in capital-raising.
 
Other current directorships 
Mr Pellegrino is currently a director of BioProspect Limited. He was appointed to this position on 1 September 2008. 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None.

Special responsibilities
Mr Pellegrino is an Executive Director of the Company (appointed 10 July 2007) and is responsible for the establishment and 
implementation of the overseas production facilities of Solagran Limited.

Mr Peter Stedwell 
Executive Director & Company Secretary 
Experience and expertise
Mr Stedwell is a graduate of University of Melbourne and has over thirty fi ve years extensive corporate experience in Finance Director 
and Company Secretarial roles. In the pharmaceutical industry he was previously Finance Manager and Company Secretary of E.R. 
Squibb and Sons (now Bristol-Myers Squibb). 

Other current directorships of Listed Companies 
Mr Stedwell is currently a director of Echo Resources Limited. He was appointed to this position on 25 March 2004. 

Mr Stedwell is currently a director of BioProspect Limited. He was appointed to this position on 1 September 2008.

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None.

Company Secretarial and special responsibilities
Mr Stedwell was appointed to the position of company secretary on 7 November 1997. He is responsible for the preparation 
of fi nancial statements and reports including maintenance of accounts and company records. In addition, he is responsible for 
lodgement of all statements with ASX and coordination of independent audits of the consolidated entity accounts.  

Meetings of Directors
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2008, and the number of meetings 
attended by each Director who held offi ce during the fi nancial year were:  
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Name Meetings this Year 
Held whilst a Director Directors’ Meetings Attended

Dr V Soultanov 12 11
Mr D Kilroy 12 11
Mr C Pellegrino 12 11
Mr P Stedwell 12 12

Directors’ Interests in Shares
The relevant interests of each Director in the share capital of the Company as at 30 September 2008 are as follows:

Name Ordinary Shares
Directly held

Ordinary Shares
Indirectly held

Contributing Shares
Directly held

Contributing Shares   
Indirectly held

Dr V Soultanov 195,809 3,238,883 - 1,682,151
Mr D Kilroy 110,377 1,920,175 196,172 4,758,786
Mr C Pellegrino - 40,000 - -
Mr P Stedwell - 2,000,000 - 1,000,000

No Director holds any Options over any shares in the share capital of the Company.

Remuneration Report (Audited)
The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited as required by Section 308 (3C) of the Corporations Act 
2001. 
a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The Board reviews the remuneration packages and policies applicable to the Directors and other offi cers of the Company on an 
annual basis. Where necessary the Board obtains independent advice on the appropriateness of remuneration packages. 

Non-Executive Directors
The Company currently has no Non-Executive Directors. The maximum pool to be paid to Non-Executive Directors is agreed at the 
Annual General Meeting and is currently $180,000.

Executive Remuneration
Executive remuneration and other terms of reference are reviewed annually by the Board and are set at fair market value and not 
the performance of the Company. 

b) Details of remuneration 
The Board of Directors consists of four executive Directors who carry out all executive roles and functions.

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each Director of Solagran Limited and the offi cers of the 
Company for the years ended 30 June 2007 and 2008 are set out in the following tables:

Name of 
Executive 
Directors

Short-term benefi ts Share-based 
payments

Salaries
$

Consulting Fees
$

Options
$

Total
$

Remuneration 
consisting of 

options %
2008 2008 2008 2008 2008

Dr V Soultanov - 123,171 158,550 281,721 56.3
Mr D Kilroy - 98,517 126,840 225,357 56.3
Mr P Stedwell 100,000 28,000 84,560 212,560 39.8
Mr C Pellegrino - 72,000 84,560 156,560 54.0
Total 100,000 321,688 454,510 876,198 51.9
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Name of 
Executive 
Directors

Short-term benefi ts Share-based 
payments

Salaries
$

Consulting Fees
$

Options
$

Total
$

Remuneration 
consisting of 

options %
2007 2007 2007 2007 2007

Dr V Soultanov - 170,465 - 170,465 -
Mr D Kilroy - 126,500 - 126,500 -
Mr P Stedwell - 96,000 - 96,000 -
Mr C Pellegrino - 40,909 - 40,909 -
Total - 433,874 - 433,874 -

c) Service agreements
Currently there are no service agreements in place between the Company and any of its Directors, however consulting fees and 
salaries are approved at board level.

d) Share-based compensation
At a General Meeting held on 17 September 2007 Shareholders approved the issue of the following numbers of Unlisted Options 
(exercisable at $0.20 on or before 30 April 2008) to the Directors or their nominees. The options all vested on issue.
 

Director Number of Options Approval 
$1.40

Value at Grant date - 
$1.057

Value at exercise 
date - $0.37

Dr Vagif Soultanov 150,000 $210,000 $158,550 $55,500
Mr Denis Kilroy 120,000 $168,000 $126,840 $44,400
Mr Charles Pellegrino 80,000 $112,000 $84,560 $29,600
Mr Peter Stedwell 80,000 $112,000 $84,560 $29,600
Total 430,000 $602,000 $454,510 $159,100

For the purposes of shareholder approval the Unlisted Options were valued at $1.40 on the basis of a Black Scholes valuation as 
detailed in the Notice of Meeting.

At the date of issue of the Unlisted Options (16 October 2007), the share price of Solagran ordinary securities closed at $1.05, 
indicating a value of $0.85 per Unlisted Option.

At the date of exercise (30 April 2008) Solagran ordinary securities (SLA) closed at $0.57 on ASX,  indicating a value at exercise of 
$0.37 per Unlisted Option.

To meet the requirements of IFRS the Unlisted Options were valued under an independent Black Scholes valuation approved by 
the auditors at $1.057 each in the accounts. An amount of $454,510 was taken up as the cost of the Unlisted Options issued to 
Directors.

All Unlisted Options were exercised by the Directors or their nominees. 

End of Audited Remuneration Report
Shares under option
There are no options over securities of the Company on issue as at the date of this Report.

Shares issued on the exercise of options
The following shares of the Company were issued during the year ended 30 June 2008 on the exercise of options.

Date options granted Issue price of shares Number of shares issued

17 September 2007 $0.20 40,713,822
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Directors and Offi cers Insurance 
The Company does not hold a Directors and Offi cers liability Policy.

Proceedings on Behalf of the Company
There are no proceedings on behalf of the Company pursuant to section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Non-audit services
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s 
expertise and experience with the Company are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd) for non-audit services provided 
during the year are set out below.  

The Board of Directors has considered the position and is satisfi ed that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with 
the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfi ed that the 
provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

- all non-audit services have been reviewed by the board of directors to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and 
objectivity of the auditor; and

- none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

During the year the following fees for non-audit services were paid or payable for services provided by a related practice of the 
external auditors: 

2008
$

2007
$

BDO Kendalls Corporate Tax (WA) Pty Ltd - Taxation Services 21,000 8,250

Auditor
BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd continues in offi ce in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s independence declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out later in 
this Report.

This Directors’ Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Dated at Melbourne the 30th day of September, 2008. 

 

Peter Stedwell  
Director 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2008

  

2008 2007 2008 2007
Note $ $ $ $

Revenue from continuing operations 2 1,453,327 161,916 1,001,778   37,375
Other Income 2 554,725 -             123,998      -           

Cost of goods sold 257,771 45,953 -              -           
Employee benefits expense 912,178 524,218 172,000      -           
Depreciation expense 3 470,254 6,550 -              -           
Consultancy and contract expenses 677,238 623,813 66,910        231,833
Administration expenses 2,150,196 719,804 1,358,325   456,493
Marketing expenses 319,903 254,984 114,846      60,239
Manufacturing expenses 45,043 626,394 -              -           
Loss on foreign exchange movements 135,000 -             135,000      -           
Clinical trial costs 3 788,822 1,006,142 43,783        4,641
Other expenses 13,687 4,022 9,954          -           

(3,762,040) (3,649,964) (775,042) (715,831)

Income tax expense 4 -              -             -              -           

Profit / (loss) from continuing operations (3,762,040) (3,649,964) (775,042) (715,831)

Profit / (loss) for the financial year (3,762,040) (3,649,964) (775,042) (715,831)

Profit /(loss) attributable to minority interest (65,461) -             -              -           

(3,696,579) (3,649,964) (775,042) (715,831)

(3,762,040) (3,649,964) (775,042) (715,831)

Basic earnings per share (cents) 19 (2.93) (3.45)
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 19 (2.93) (3.45)

Earnings per share for profit / (loss) for the 
period

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense

Profit/(loss) attributable to the members of 
Solagran Limited 

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2008
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2008

 

2008 2007 2008 2007
Note $ $ $ $

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 4,660,068 2,241,141 4,284,439 2,241,141
Trade and other receivables 6 1,375,868 218,157 173,017 23,393
Inventories 7 2,124,224 1,372,854 -                -                 
Total current assets 8,160,160 3,832,152 4,457,456 2,264,534

Non-current assets
Receivables 8 -                      -                9,632,264 4,962,484
Other financial assets 9 -                      1,117,189 16,811,079 9,867,189
Available-for-sale financial assets 10 505,000 -                505,000 -                 
Property, plant and equipment 11 5,026,040 34,470 -                -                 
Intangible assets 12 13,207,313 7,704,962 -                -                 
Total non-current assets 18,738,353 8,856,621 26,948,343 14,829,673

Total assets 26,898,513 12,688,773 31,405,799 17,094,207

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 1,794,289 1,734,204 1,179,196 164,764
Borrowings 13 181,818 18,517 -                -                 
Total current liabilities 1,976,107 1,752,721 1,179,196 164,764

Non current liabilities
Borrowings 14 3,190,044 -                -                -                 
Total non-current liabilities 3,190,044 -                -                -                 

Total liabilities 5,166,151 1,752,721 1,179,196 164,764

Net assets 21,732,362 10,936,052 30,226,603 16,929,443

EQUITY
Contributed equity 15 61,433,681 47,513,183 61,433,681 47,513,183
Reserves 16 266,500 230,000 266,500 230,000
Accumulated losses 17 (40,052,358) (36,807,131) (31,473,578) (30,813,740)
Minority Interest 18 84,539 -                -                -                 
Total equity 21,732,362 10,936,052 30,226,603 16,929,443

Consolidated entity Parent entity

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE, 2008
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2008

 

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

10,936,052     10,006,215   16,929,443    13,065,472   

(417,500)         -                (417,500)       -                

(417,500)         -                (417,500)       -                

Loss for the year (3,762,040)      (3,649,964)    (775,043)       (715,831)       

(4,179,540)      (3,649,964)    (1,192,543)    (715,831)       

13,920,498     4,579,802     13,920,496    4,579,802     
84,539            -                -                -                

516,813          -                115,207         -                
   Share-based payment for
   consulting services 454,000          -                454,000         -                

21,732,362     10,936,052   30,226,603    16,929,443   

(3,696,579)      (3,649,964)    (775,043)       (715,831)       
Minority Interest (65,461)           -                -                -                

Net income/(expense) recognised directly 
in equity

Adjustment for prior year consolidation
Movement in Minority Interest

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale 
investments

Members of Solagran Limited

Consolidated Parent

Transactions with equity holders in their 
capacity as equity holders:

Total recognised income and expense for 
the year is attributable to:

Total equity at the beginning of the 
financial year

Total recognised income and expense 
for the year

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs 

Total equity at the end of the financial 
year

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2008
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2008 2007 2008 2007
Note $ $ $ $

Receipts from customers 592,237 103,168 123,998 -              
Payments to suppliers and employees (5,507,821) (2,410,694) (582,011) (645,463)
Interest received 185,596 37,375 79,278 37,375
Interest paid -                 (3,147) -              (266)

20 (4,729,988) (2,273,298) (378,735) (608,354)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for investments -                 (1,117,189) (6,048,684) (1,117,189)

22 (5,954,161) -              -              -              
(31,324) (12,822) -              -              

Payments for intangible assets (6,098) (2,609) -              -              
(5,991,583) (1,132,620) (6,048,684) (1,117,189)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares 13,140,498 4,579,802 13,140,498 4,579,802
Loan provided to controlled entity -                 -              (4,669,781) (1,677,155)

13,140,498 4,579,802 8,470,717 2,902,647

2,418,927 1,173,884 2,043,298 1,177,104

2,241,141 1,067,257 2,241,141 1,064,037

5 4,660,068 2,241,141 4,284,439 2,241,141
Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the financial year

Consolidated entity

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the financial year

Parent entity

Net cash (outflow) from 
operating activities

Net cash inflow from financing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities

Cash flows from operating activities

Payment for purchase of 
subsidiary, net of cash acquired

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2008
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Note 1.  Summary of signifi cant accounting policies

Solagran  Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian 
Securities Exchange. 

The fi nancial report was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 30 September 2008.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the fi nancial report are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The fi nancial report includes separate fi nancial statements 
for Solagran Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of Solagran Limited and its subsidiaries.  

a) Basis of preparation
This general purpose fi nancial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

Compliance with IFRS
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Compliance 
with AIFRS ensures that the consolidated fi nancial statements and notes of Solagran Limited comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Historical cost convention
These fi nancial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are signifi cant to the fi nancial statements, are 
disclosed in note 32.

b) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Solagran Limited (“company” or 
“parent entity”) as at 30 June 2008 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Solagran Limited and its subsidiaries 
together are referred to in this fi nancial report as the Group or consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the fi nancial 
and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect 
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls 
another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the 
date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 

Minority interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income statement and balance 
sheet respectively.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual fi nancial statements of Solagran Limited.  
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c) Income tax
The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the national income 
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to 
unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated fi nancial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted 
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of 
investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and 
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and 
when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity 
has a legally enforceable right of offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

Tax consolidation legislation
Solagran Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation.

The head entity, Solagran Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own current and 
deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand alone 
taxpayer in its own right. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Solagran Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) 
and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax 
consolidation group.  

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable 
from or payable to other entities in the Group. 

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised 
as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities. 

d) Business Combination
The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisition of assets (including business combinations) regardless of whether 
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Where equity instruments are issued 
in an acquisition, the value of the instruments is their published market price at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, 
it can be demonstrated that the published market price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other 
evidence and valuation methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity 
instruments are recognised directly in equity.

Identifi able assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their 
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the 
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fair value of the Group’s share of the identifi able net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the 
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement, but only after a 
reassessment of the identifi cation and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present 
value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent fi nancier under comparable terms and conditions.

e) Impairment of assets
At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is any indication that individual assets are impaired.  Where impairment 
indicators exist, recoverable amount determined an impairment loss recognised in income statement.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefi nite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifi able cash infl ows which are largely independent of the cash infl ows from 
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-fi nancial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.   

f) Property, Plant & equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the items. Costs may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash fl ow hedges of 
foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of 
their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture, fi ttings and equipment:  5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the income 
statement. When revalued assets are sold, it is Group policy to transfer the amounts included in other reserves in respect of those 
assets to retained earnings.

g) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifi able assets of 
the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is 
not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity 
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of those cash-generating units represents 
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the Group’s investment in each country of operation by each primary reporting segment. Impairment losses on goodwill cannot be 
reversed.

(ii) Patents and trademarks 
Patents and trademarks have an indefi nite useful life and are carried at cost less any impairment losses. Patents and trademarks 
are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

h) Cash and cash equivalents
For cash fl ow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with fi nancial 
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

i)  Employee benefi ts
(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefi ts, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date 
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefi ts and measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit 
credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods 
of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity and currency that match, and closely as possible, the estimated future cash outfl ows.

(iii)  Share-based payments

Under AASB 2 Share Based Payments, the Group must recognise the fair value of options granted to directors, employees and 
consultants as remuneration as an expense on a pro-rata basis over the vesting period in the income statement with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity.  

The Group provides benefi ts to employees (including directors) of the group in the form of share based payment transactions, 
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled transactions”).  The cost of these 
equity-settled transactions with employees (including directors) is measured by reference to fair value at the date they are granted. 
The fair value is determined using the Black Scholes model.

j) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the fi nancial year and which are 
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
 
k) Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A 
provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or fi nancial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash fl ows relating 
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to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. The amount of the provision is recognised in 
the income statement in other expenses.

l) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, 
trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i) Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sales is recognized when signifi cant risk and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer and can be reliably 
measured. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer when goods have been delivered to the customer.

(ii) Interest Income
Revenue is recognized as interest accrues using the effective interest method. The effective interest method uses the effective 
interest rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the fi nancial asset. 

When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash 
fl ow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 
Interest income on impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.    

(iii) Government Grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and the group will comply with all the attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the 
income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. Government grants 
relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are include in the non-current liabilities as deferred income and credited to 
the income statement on a straight line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
 
m) Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profi t attributable to equity holders of the company, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the fi nancial 
year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the fi gures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other fi nancing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average 
number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

n) Inventories
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and fi nished goods

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and fi nished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fi xed overhead expenditure, the latter being 
allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on basis of weighted average 
costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.
 
o) Segment Reporting
A business segment is identifi ed for a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject 
to risks and returns that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical segment is identifi ed when products or 
services are provided within a particular economic environment subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments 
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operating in other economic environments.

p) Contributed Equity
Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity. 

Contributing shares are partly paid with calls of capital being made at the discretion of the company. Where calls are not paid these 
shares will be forfeited by the holder.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the acquisition of a business are included 
as part of the purchase consideration.

(q) Dividends
A provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the 
entity, on or before the end of the fi nancial year but not distributed at balance date.

(r) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash fl ows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash fl ows arising from investing or fi nancing activities, which 
are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash fl ow.
 
(s) Investments and other fi nancial assets
All investments and other fi nancial assets are initially stated at cost, being the fair value of consideration given plus acquisition 
costs.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date, 
which are classifi ed as non current assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the balance sheet.

Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(t) Fair value estimation
The fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure 
purposes.

The fair value of fi nancial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available for 
sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for fi nancial assets held 
by the Group is the current bid price.

The fair value of fi nancial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. The Group 
uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted 
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as 
estimated discounted cash fl ows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining fi nancial instruments.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to 
their short-term nature. The fair value of fi nancial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash fl ows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar fi nancial instruments.



21ANNUAL REPORT 2008

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2008

(u) Borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transactions costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised 
in the income statements over the period of the loans and borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classifi ed as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
 
(v) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to 
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

(w) Foreign currency
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the fi nancial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).  The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in AUD, 
which is Solagran Limited’s functional and presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at balance date are translated to Australian dollars at the foreign exchange rate 
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement.  Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction.  

Financial statements of foreign operations 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance 
sheet date.  The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at rates approximating to the 
foreign rates of exchange ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised 
directly in a separate component of equity.

(x) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
 The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identifi ed as those which may impact the entity 
in the period of initial application. They are available for early adoption at 30 June 2008, but have not been applied in preparing this 
fi nancial report: There is no material impact in relation to adopting these standards.
 
(i) AASB 123 (revised June 2007) - Borrowing Costs
Applicable for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. The transitional provisions of this standard only require capitalisation 
of borrowing costs on qualifying assets where commencement date for capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009. As such, there 
will be no impact on prior fi nancial statements when this standard is adopted.
 
(ii) AASB 3 (reissued March 2008) - Business Combinations
Applicable to business combinations where the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the fi rst reporting period that commences 
1 July 2009 or later. As there is no requirement to retrospectively restate comparative amounts for business combinations undertaken 
before this date, there is unlikely to be any impact on the fi nancial statements when this revised standard is fi rst adopted.
However, due to the nature of some of the changes in the revised standard, business combinations that the entity undertakes after 
this date may in future impact negatively on the results of the entity. For example, acquisition costs will have to be expensed instead 
of being recognised as part of goodwill.

Specifi c changes in respect of step acquisitions and sell downs may introduce situations whereby adopting the revised standard 
may improve profi tability.

Also, deferred tax assets that do not satisfy recognition criteria when a business combination is initially accounted for, but do 
subsequently qualify for recognition post acquisition date, will be recognised as a credit to the income statement and there will be 
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no consequential write-down of goodwill for a similar amount, provided that the deferred tax assets are recognised outside the initial 
measurement period of 12 months from acquisition date.

(iii) AASB 127 (reissued March 2008) - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Applicable to periods commencing on or after 1 July 2009. As there is no requirement to retrospectively restate the effect of these 
revisions, there is unlikely to be any impact on the fi nancial statements when this revised standard is fi rst adopted.

(iv) AASB 2008-3 (issued March 2008) Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 3 and AASB 127 
[AASB 1, AASB 2, AASB 4, AASB 5, AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 112, AASB 114, AASB 116, AASB 121, AASB 128, AASB 
131, AASB 132, AASB 133, AASB 134, AASB 136, AASB 137, AASB 138, AASB 139, Interpretation 9 and Interpretation 107]
Applicable to periods commencing on or after 1 July 2009. As there is no requirement to retrospectively restate the effect of these 
revisions, there is unlikely to be any impact on the fi nancial statements when this revised standard is fi rst adopted.
 
(v) AASB 2008-1 (issued February 2008) – Amendments to AASB 2 – Share-based Payments – Vesting Conditions and 
Cancellations.
Applicable to periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. To date the entity has not issued any options to employees that 
include non-vesting conditions and as such there will be no impact on the fi nancial statements when this revised standard is adopted 
for the fi rst time.
 
(vi) AASB Interpretation 11 (issued Feb 2007) – AASB 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions
Applicable to periods commencing on or after 1 March 2007. There will be no impact because at the reporting date the entity has 
not issued any equity instruments to employees of subsidiaries.
 
(vii) IAS27, IAS 18 and IAS 36 (issued May 2008) – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, Revenue and 
Impairment of Assets.
Applicable to periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. There will be no impact as these requirements are only required to 
be applied prospectively for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. However, any pre-acquisition dividends received after 
this date may result in additional impairment charges on investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities. This 
is because such amounts would previously have been written off directly against the cost of the investment, whereas in future they 
will be recognised as revenue which may result in the investment being stated at an amount exceeding recoverable amount.

(viii) IAS 27 (issued May 2008) – paragraphs 38B and 38C
Applicable to periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. There will be no impact as these requirements are only required to 
be applied prospectively to reorganisations occurring in annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009.
 
(ix) Improvements to IFRS (issued May 2008) – Improvements to IFRSs

i.  IAS 27 - Consolidated and separate Financial Statements.
 Applicable to periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. This amendment will have no impact when this amendment is 

fi rst adopted because the entity used the cost method under IAS 27 to account for its investment in subsidiaries, associates 
and jointed controlled entities which will continue to be measure under IFRS 5.

 
ii. IAS 23 – Borrowing costs 
 Applicable for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. There will be no impact as these amendments merely clarify 

existing practice.
 
iii. IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets
 Applicable for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. There will be no fi nancial impact when these amendments 

are fi rst adopted because these amendments relate to additional disclosure requirements only.
 
(x) AASB 8 (issued Feb 2007) – Operating Segments 
Applicable to periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. As this is a disclosure standard only, there will be no impact on 
amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements. However, disclosures required for the operating segments will be signifi cantly 
different to what is currently reported (business and geographical segment).
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 (xi) AASB 101 –(revised Sep 2007) – Presentation of Financial Statements
 Applicable to annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. As this is a disclosure standard only, there will be no 
impact on amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements. However, there will be various changes to the way fi nancial statements 
are presented and various changes to names of individual fi nancial statements.

Note 2.  Revenue

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

From continuing operations
Sales revenue
Sale of goods 335,187    124,541    -            -            
Sundry Income 10,044      -            -            -            
Royalty 922,500    -            922,500    -            

1,267,731 124,541    922,500    -            
Other revenue
Interest income 185,596    37,375      79,278      37,375      

Total revenue 1,453,327 161,916    1,001,778 37,375      

Local Research and development grant 123,998    -            123,998    -            
Subsidy received overseas 430,727    -            -            -            

Total other income 554,725    -            123,998    -            

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Note 3.  (Loss) from ordinary activities

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

a) Expenses

Depreciation
   Property, Plant and equipment 470,254    6,550           -            -            

Write-off of obsolete stock 109,553    183,041       -            -            

Rental expense 206,111    157,634       63,000      55,000      

Clinical trial costs 788,822    1,006,142    43,783      4,641        

Consolidated entity Parent entity
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Note 4.  Income tax

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

a) Income tax expense
Current tax -             -            -            -            
Deferred tax -             -            -            -            
Under (over) provided in prior years -             -            -            -            

-             -            -            -            

(3,762,040) (3,649,964) (775,042) (715,831)

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2006 - 30%) (1,128,612) (1,094,989) (232,513) (214,749)

Tax effects of amounts which are not deductible 
(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Entertainment 1,079          -            441           -            
Share based payment 180,600      -            180,600    -            

Deferred tax asset in relation to tax losses not
recognised 946,933      1,094,989 51,472      214,749    
Prior year tax losses not recognised now recouped -             -            -            -            
Income tax expense -             -            -            -            

Parent entity

Profit / (Loss) from continuing operations before 
income tax expense

b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax 
expense to prima facie tax payable

Consolidated entity

c) Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax 
asset has been recognised 14,198,440 9,357,658 4,340,743 2,495,935

Potential benefi t at 30% 4,259,532 2,807,297 1,302,223 748,871

Note 5.  Current assets – Cash and cash equivalents

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 4,660,068 2,241,141 4,284,439 2,241,141

(a) Interest rate risk exposure
The Group’s and the parent entity’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 23.

Consolidated entity Parent entity
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Note 6.  Current assets – Trade and other receivables

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Trade receivables 756,910 135,018 -            5,542
Other receivables 480,267 -               104,177 -               
Prepayments 2,197 3,000 2,197 3,000
Tax refunds 136,494 80,139 66,643 14,851

1,375,868 218,157 173,017 23,393

(a) Ageing and Impairment Losses
The ageing of trade receivables for the consolidated entity at the reporting date was

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2008 2008 2007 2007

$ $ $ $
Not past due 748,249    -               135,018    -               
Past due 0 -30 days -            -               -            -               
Past due 31-60 days 5,549        -               -            -               
Over 60 Days 3,112        -               -            -               

756,910    -               135,018    -               

There were no imparied trade receivables for the parent in 2008 or 2007.

(b) Past due but not impaired
As of 30 June 2008, trade receivables of $8,661  were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Up to 3 months 5,549        -                -             -                
3 to 6  months 3,112        -                -             -                

8,661        -               -            -               

(c) Other receivables

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past
due. Based on the credit history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be
received when due. The Group does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables.

These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group.
Interest may be charged at commercial rates where the terms of repayment exceed six months.
Collateral is not normally obtained.

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Consolidated Entity

Consolidated entity Parent entity
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Note 7.  Current assets – Inventories

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Raw materials 1,681,923 1,350,075 -            -            
WIP 437,377    21,874      -            -            
Finished goods 4,924        905           -            -            

2,124,224 1,372,854 -            -            

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 June 2008 amounted to 
$615,053 (2007: $183,041). The expense has been included in “clinical trial costs” in the income statement. 

Note 8.  Non current assets – Receivables

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Loan to related parties (note 25) -            -            9,632,264 4,962,484

(a) Impaired receivables and receivables past due
None of the non-current receivables are impaired or past due but not impaired.

(b) Fair values

(c) Risk exposure
Information about the Group's and the parent entity's exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange 
and interest rate risk is provided in note 23.

Consolidated entity Parent entity

The fair value of the non-current receivables cannot be determined as there are no set 
repayment terms on these loans.

Note 9.  Non current assets – Other fi nancial assets

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Investment in controlled entity (Solathera) - at cost -           -            8,750,000    8,750,000
Investment in controlled entity (SibEx) - at cost -           1,117,189 8,061,079    1,117,189 

-           1,117,189 16,811,079  9,867,189 
The fair value of financial assets approximates the carrying value.

Consolidated entity Parent entity
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Note 10. Non current assets – Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Investment in BioProspect - listed 505,000    -            505,000       -            
505,000    -            505,000       -            

The above investment is carried at fair value.

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Note 11. Non current assets – Property, plant and equipment

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Plant, furniture and office equipment - at cost 5,054,612 54,288 -            -            
Less: Accumulated depreciation (31,634) (22,880) -            -            

5,022,978 31,408 -            -            

Research and development equipment - at cost 3,062 3,062 -            -            

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Reconciliations

2008 2007
$ $

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 31,408 28,198
Additions 5,464,886 9,760
Depreciation expense (470,254) (6,550)
Carrying amount at end of financial year 5,026,040 31,408

2008 2007
$ $

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 3,062 -            
Additions -            3,062
Depreciation expense -            -            
Carrying amount at end of financial year 3,062 3,062

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at the 
beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below:

Plant, furniture and 
office equipment

Research and 
development 

equipment
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Note 12. Non current assets – Intangibles

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Goodwill 5,630,599 132,249 -            -            

Patents and trademarks - at cost 7,576,714 7,572,713 -            -            

Total intangibles 13,207,313 7,704,962 -            -            

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Patents and trademarks have an indefi nite useful life and are carried at cost less any impaired losses. Patents and 
trademarks are tested for impairment annually and on a Cash Generating Unit (CGUs) basis.

Reconciliations

note 2008 2007
$ $

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 132,249 132,249    
Additions 22 5,498,350 -            
Carrying amount at end of financial year 5,630,599 132,249

2008 2007
$ $

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 7,572,713 7,570,104 
Additions 4,001        2,609
Carrying amount at end of financial year 7,576,714 7,572,713

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at the 
beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below:

Goodwill

Patent and trademarks

Consolidated entity

(a) Key assumptions used for value-in use calculations
The recoverable amount of Patents and trademarks have been assessed for impairment during the period based on value-
in-use calculations. 

CGU Growth rate % Gross margin % Discount rate %
Australia 100 50 10

 
(b) Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGU) identifi ed according to the following geographical segment.

Total $
Australia 139,209
Siberia 5,491,391

5,630,600
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Note 13.  Current liabilities – Trade and other payables and Borrowings

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Unsecured liabilities
Trade payables 1,373,304 1,581,294 1,007,196 11,854
Other payables 420,985 152,910 172,000 152,910

1,794,289 1,734,204 1,179,196 164,764

(a) Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months
All trade and other payables are expected to be settled within the next 12 months.

(b) Risk exposure
Information about the Group's and the parent entity's exposure to foreign exchange risk
is provided in note 23.

Current Liabilities
Unsecured liabilities
Bank overdraft 181,818    18,517      -            -            

(a) Risk exposures
Details of the Group's exposure to risks arising from current and non-current borrowings 
are set out in note 23.

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Note 14. Non Current Liabilities – Borrowings and Other Liabilities

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Non Current Liabilities
Borrowings
Bank Facility 3,190,044   -            -            -            

(a) Fair values
The fair value of the non-current liabilities approximates the carrying value

(b) Risk exposures
Information about the Group's and parent entity’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency 
changes is provided in note 23.
No assets have been pledged as security over the above borrowings.

The Interest rate charged on the above borrowings is 17.3%, being the market interest rate 
charged in Russia.

Consolidated entity Parent entity
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Note 15. Contributed equity

2008 2007 2008 2007
Shares Shares $ $

Share capital
Ordinary shares - fully paid 171,198,086 116,454,190 54,068,749 42,577,181
Contributing 20 cent shares - paid to 15 cents 47,294,502 49,324,566 7,364,932 4,936,002
(2007 - paid to 10 cents) 218,492,588 165,778,756 61,433,681 47,513,183

Movements in ordinary share capital

Opening balance - 1/7/2007 116,454,190 42,577,181
Conversion of Options 30/8/2007 760,165 152,033
Conversion of Contribs 30/8/2007 645,958 64,596
Conversion of Options 24/10/2007 390,000 78,000
Issue to SiBex shareholders 14/12/2007 3,000,000 780,000
Conversion of Options 14/12/2007 10,466,233 2,093,247
Conversion of Contribs 14/12/2007 100,000 10,000
Conversion of Options 26/05/2008 29,097,434 5,819,487
Conversion of Contribs 26/5/2008 1,284,106 64,205
Issue of Settlement of Debt 30/06/2008 9,000,000 2,430,000
Closing balance - 30/6/2008 171,198,086 54,068,749

Movements in contributing share capital

Opening balance - 01/07/2007 49,324,566 4,936,002
Conversion of Contribs 30/8/2007 (645,958)        -               
Conversion of Contribs 14/12/2007 (100,000)        -               
Payment of Call February 2008 -                 2,428,930
Conversion of Contribs 26/5/2008 (1,284,106)     -               
Closing balance - 30/6/2008 47,294,502 7,364,932

Parent entity Parent entity

(a) Capital risk management
The Group’s and the parent entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefi ts for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital 
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistently with companies in this industry,at this stage of their commercial development the Group and the parent entity monitor 
capital on the basis of the capital required to meet overheads and complete the neccessary production facilities. Against this 
background the Directors do consistently monitor the gearing ratio, which will be important when income is generated.This ratio is 
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘borrowings’ and ‘trade and other 
payables’ as shown in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the 
balance sheet (including minority interest) plus net debt.

During 2008, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2007, was to maintain a gearing ratio within 10% to 40% and a BB 
credit rating. The gearing ratios at 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007 were as follows:
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2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Total Borrowings 3,371,863 18,517 -               -                
Less: cash and cash equivalents 4,660,068 2,241,141 4,284,439 2,241,141
Net Debt (1,288,205) (2,222,624) (4,284,439) (2,241,141)
Total Equity 21,248,762 10,936,052 29,721,601 16,929,443
Total capital 19,960,557 8,713,428 25,437,162 14,688,302

Gearing Ratio -6% -26% -17% -15%

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Note 16. Reserves

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Share-based payment reserve
Opening Balance 230,000       -              230,000       -              
Option Issue 454,000       230,000       454,000       230,000       
Closing Balance 684,000       230,000       684,000       230,000       

Revalution Reserve
Opening Balance -              -              -              -              
Movement Value of Investment in Bioprospect (417,500)     -              (417,500)     -              
Closing Balance (417,500)     -              (417,500)     -              

Total Reserves 266,500       230,000       266,500       230,000       

Consolidated entity Parent entity

The share base payment reserve represents the value of options issued to employees. This reserve will 
be reversed against share capital when the options are converted into shares by the employee.  See 
note 31 for details.

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale 
investments until the investment is derecognised.

Note 17. Accumulated losses 

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

(36,807,131) (33,157,167) (30,813,740) (30,097,909)
516,813 -               115,204 -               

Net (loss) attributable to the members (3,762,040) (3,649,964) (775,042) (715,831)

(40,052,358) (36,807,131) (31,473,578) (30,813,740)

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the 
financial year

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial 
year

Adjustment for prior year consolidation
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Note 18. Minority Interest

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

150,000 -               -               -               
-               -               -               -               

Retained Earnings (65,461) -               -               -               
84,539 -               -               -               

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Share Capital
Reserves

Note 19. Earnings per share

2008 2007
Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share (2.93) (3.45)
Diluted earnings per share (2.93) (3.45)

Shares Shares

128,205,976 105,711,729

$ $

(3,762,040) (3,649,964)

Consolidated entity

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the 
denominator in calculating basic earnings per share

Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per 
share

Note 20. Reconciliation of cash fl ow from operations with profi t/(loss) from ordinary activities  
  after income tax expense 

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

(3,762,039) (3,649,964) (775,042) (715,831)

Non-cash flows in (loss) from ordinary activites
Depreciation 470,254 6,550 -              -            
Share-based payments 454,000 -              454,000 -            
Licensing fees - Bioprospect (922,501) -              (922,501) -            
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (307,718) (91,455) (149,674) (9,294)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (451,370) 28,896 -              -            
Increase/(decrease) in payables (210,614) 1,432,675 1,014,432 116,771
Net cash flow from operating activities (4,729,988) (2,273,298) (378,785) (608,354)

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense
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Note 21. Controlled entities
  Controlled Entities Consolidated

Solathera Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
SiBex Limited Russia Ordinary 85 -        
Refer note 22 for further information.

Note 22.  Business Combination
  Current Period

On 14 December 2007 Solagran Ltd acquired 60% of the shares in SibEX Ltd, for the cash consideration of $3,684,967 ($1,117,189 
paid in the prior period) and shares of $780,000.

On 1 January 2008 Solagran Ltd acquired an additional 25% of the shares in SibEX Ltd, for the cash consideration of $3,596,112.

Details of the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Assets Given Total cost

7 281 079                      780 000          8 061 079         

The assets and liabiliies arising from the acquistion are as follows:
$

Book value Fair value
Assets
Cash at bank 206 508            206 508              
Fixed Assets 1 316 772         1 316 772           
Construction in Progress 1 887 234         1 887 234           
Inventories 786 031            786 031              
Debtors 878 530            878 530              

Liabilities
Accounts Payable 417 847            417 847              
Loan 1 948 747         1 948 747           
Accrued Revenue 62 719             62 719                

Net assets 2 645 761       2 645 761         

Less: minority niterest 83 032              
Fair Value of net assets acquired 2 562 729         
Cost of business combination 8 061 079         

Goodwill 5 498 350         

Equity Issued

2008
$

Outfl ow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Cash consideration 6,160,669
Less: Balances acquired
Cash 206,508
Outfl ow of cash 5,954,161
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Note 23. Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of fi nancial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of fi nancial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the fi nancial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure 
different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange 
and other price risks, aging analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market risk.

The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specifi c areas, such as foreign exchange 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

a) Market Risk
(i) Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group and the parent entity operate internationally and are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the Russian Rouble.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency 
that is not the entity’s functional currency and net investments in foreign operations. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis 
and cash fl ow forecasting.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows:

30 June 2008 30 June 2007
RUB RUB

Trade Receivables 15,444            -                 
Bank Loans 74,181            -                 
Trade Payables 8,032              -                 

Group Sensitivity

Based on the fi nancial instruments held at 30 June 2008 had the Australian dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Russian 
Rouble with all other variables held constant, the Group’s post tax profi t for the year would have been $30,773 higher/$25,175 lower, 
mainly as a result of foreign exchanges gains/losses on translation of the Russian Rouble.

(ii) Cash fl ow and interest rate risk

The Group’s only interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents held. Term deposits and current accounts held with 
variable interest rates expose the group to cash fl ow interest rate risk.  

The Company does not consider this to be material to the Group and have therefore not undertaken any further analysis of risk 
exposure.

The following sets out the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, including the effective weighted average interest rate by maturity 
periods. 
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Note 24. Financial instruments

Floating Over 1 More Non
interest 1 year to 5  than 5 interest

rate or less years years bearing Total
Note $ $ $ $ $ $

2008

Financial assets
Cash 5 4,660,068        -         -         -         -             4,660,068        
Receivables 6 -                   -         -         -         1,375,868   1,375,868        
Total financial assets 4,660,068        -         -         -         1,375,868   6,035,936        

7.50%

Financial liabilities
Payables 13 -                   -         -         -         1,794,290 1,794,290        
Borrowings 13 181,818           -         -         -         -             181,818           
Total financial liabilities 181,818           -         -         -         1,794,290   1,976,108        

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 4,478,250 -         -         -         (418,422) 4,059,828

Fixed interest maturing in:

Weighted average interest rate

Floating Over 1 More Non
interest 1 year to 5  than 5 interest

rate or less years years bearing Total
Note $ $ $ $ $ $

2007

Financial assets
Cash 5 2,241,141 -           -           -           -             2,241,141
Receivables 6 -               -           -           -           218,157 218,157
Total financial assets 2,241,141 -           -           -           218,157 2,459,298

5.40%

Financial liabilities
Payables 13 -               -           -           -           1,734,204 1,734,204
Borrowings 13 18,517         -           -           -           -             18,517
Total financial liabilities 18,517         -           -           -           1,734,204 1,752,721

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 2,222,624 -           -           -           (1,516,047) 706,577

Fixed interest maturing in:

Weighted average interest rate

(ii) Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk in relation to it’s investment in BioProspect. 

The Group does not currently manage it’s price risk in relation to investments in equity securities and therefore has not adopted any 
formal policies in relation to risk management as the exposure to price risk is not considered material.  

The Group has not disclosed a sensitivity analysis in relation to it’s exposure to securities due to the view provided above.
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b) Credit risk exposure
Credit risk is the risk of fi nancial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a fi nancial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from receivables from customers and cash and cash equivalents.  For the Company and Group it 
arises from trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents. 

The credit risk on fi nancial assets of the consolidated entity, which have been recognised on the statement of fi nancial position, other 
than investments in shares, is generally the carrying amount, net of any provision for doubtful debts. The consolidated entity does 
not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under fi nancial instruments entered into by it.

The credit quality of fi nancial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings 
(if available) or to historical information about default rates.

Financial assets that are neither past due and not impaired are as follows:

Consolidated Parent
2008

$
2007

$
2008

$
2007

$
Financial assets - counterparties 
without external credit rating -
Existing customers with no defaults in past. 1,367,207 218,157 9,805,281 4,985,877
Existing customers with defaults in past. - - - -

1,367,207 218,157 9,805,281 4,985,877
Cash and cash equivalents
AA S&P rating 4,660,068 2,241,141 4,284,439 2,241,141

b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its fi nancial obligations as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management 
implies maintaining suffi cient cash balances and access to equity funding.  

The fi nancial director monitors the cash position of the group on a weekly basis. Money is held on deposit to cover any shortfalls. 

As at reporting date the Group had suffi cient cash reserves to meet its requirements. The Group has no access to credit standby 
facilities or arrangements for further funding or borrowings in place.

Maturities of fi nancial liabilities
The table below analyses the Group’s fi nancial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
reporting date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash fl ows.  

Group Less than 6 
months

6-12 
months 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 

years

Total 
contractual 
cash fl ows

Carrying 
amount 
(assets)/ 
liabilities

$ $ $ $ $ $ $
As at 30 June 2008
Trade and other 
payables 1,794,289 - - - - 1,794,289 1,794,289

Borrowings 181,818 - - - - 181,818 181,818
As at 30 June 2007

Trade and other 
payables 1,734,204 - - - - 1,734,204 1,734,204

Borrowings 18,517 - - - - 18,517 18,517
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Parent Less than 6 
months

6-12 
months 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 

years

Total 
contractual 
cash fl ows

Carrying 
amount 
(assets)/ 
liabilities

$ $ $ $ $ $ $
As at 30 June 2008
Trade and other 
payables 1,179,196 - - - - 1,179,196 1,179,196

As at 30 June 2007
Trade and other 
payables 164,764 - - - - 164,764 164,764

d) Net fair value of fi nancial assets and liabilities 
    On balance sheet
The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing monetary fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities of the 
consolidated entity approximates their carrying amounts.

Note 24.  Events occurring subsequent to balance date

The Company reached a new agreement to secure the services of key scientists and administrators in Russia, considered critical 
to the ongoing Bioeffectives commercialising effort. It is planned to release details of this agreement to shareholders at the AGM 
planned for the last week of November, 2008.
 
The Directors announced that approval had been granted to construct a new and larger Bioeffectives production facility in the 
Tomsk Free Economic Zone that at full capacity will be able to produce 200kg per month of plant polyprenols (Bioeffective R) as 
well as other valuable Bioeffectives generated as by-products during the polyprenols production process. 
 
On 28 August 2008 Solagran acquired a further 9,839,041 ordinary shares in BioProspect Limited as a result of on market purchases. 
The Company advised BioProspect Limited that it now held 6.64% of the voting power in BioProspect Limited.
  
For the purposes of the Accounting Reports, the Directors have recorded a holding loss of $417,500 on the shares held in BioProspect. 
This amount represents the difference in market value at the date of issue to Solagran and at 30 June 2008.

Note 25. Related party transactions

a) Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 26.

b) Subsidiaries
The Subsidiaries group consists of Solagran Limited, its wholly owned controlled entity Solathera Limited and the 85% owned 
Siberian Company SibEX Limited.

Transactions between Solagran Limited and Solathera Limited during the years ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007 consisted 
of loans advanced by Solagran Limited. There is no fi xed term for repayment of the loans advanced by Solagran Limited and there 
is no interest payable on the loans advanced.

Aggregate amounts receivable from Solathera Limited at balance date:

2008 2007
$ $

Non current receivables (loans) 9,632,264 4,962,484 
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c) Transactions with related parties
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions and no more favourable than those available 
to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

A director, Dr V Soultanov, is a director and shareholder of Eastok Pty Ltd. Solagran Limited has paid Eastok Pty Ltd for the rental of 
storage space for offi ce records, trial data and materials, trial equipment, raw materials and for staff services to Solagran Limited. 

Amounts recognised as an expense
Services provided by Eastok Pty Ltd 63,000      60,000      

Mr D Kilroy is a director and shareholder of The KBA Consulting Group Pty Ltd. During the year Solagran Limited paid offi ce rent 
and other overhead expenses to The KBA Consulting Group Pty Ltd.

 

Amounts recognised as an expense
Office rental and overheads 164,069    157,634    

Note 26. Key management personnel disclosures

Detailed key management personnel remuneration disclosures are in audited remuneration report.

a) Directors
The following persons are key management personnel of Solagran Limited who are also the directors of the company during the 
fi nancial year:

Chairman – executive
Dr V Soultanov

Executive directors
Mr P Stedwell
Mr D Kilroy
Mr C Pellegrino

b) Key Management Personnel Compensation
 

CONSOLIDATED PARENT
2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $
Short-term employee benefi ts 421,688 433,874 421,688 433,874
Post-employment benefi ts - - - -
Share-based payments 454,510 - 454,510 -

876,198 433,874 876,198 433,874

c) Directors’ Interests in Shares and Options   
(i) Share holdings 

The relevant interests of each Director in the share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2008 are as follows:
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Director Balance  
July 1 2007

Options  
excercised Other changes Balance 

June 30 2008
Ordinary Shares
Dr V Soultanov 195,809 - - 195,809
Dr V Soultanov (indirectly) 8,202,633 150,000 4,085,177 12,287,810
Mr D Kilroy 110,377 - 29,960 140,337
Mr D Kilroy (indirectly) 6,882,728 120,000 2,844,627 9,727,355
Mr P Stedwell - - - -
Mr P Stedwell (indirectly) 827,012 80,000 1,129,638 1,956,650
Mr C Pellegrino (indirectly) 3,916,361 80,000 - 3,916,361
Contributing Shares
Dr V Soultanov (indirectly) 1,682,151 - 50,000 1,732,151
Mr D Kilroy 196,172 - - 196,172
Mr D Kilroy (indirectly) 4,848,786 - 50,000 4,898,786
Mr C Pellegrino (indirectly) 3,562,090 - - 3,562,090

(ii) Option holdings
The relevant interests of each Director in options of the Company as at 30 June 2008 (30 June 2007: no options were issued) 
are as follows:

Director Balance  
July 1 2007

Granted during the 
year Excercised Balance 

June 30 2008
Ordinary Shares
Dr V Soultanov - - - -
Dr V Soultanov (indirectly) - 150,000 (150,000) -
Mr D Kilroy - - - -
Mr D Kilroy (indirectly) - 120,000 (120,000) -
Mr P Stedwell - - - -
Mr P Stedwell (indirectly) - 80,000 (80,000) -
Mr C Pellegrino (indirectly) - 80,000 (80,000) -
Contributing Shares
Dr V Soultanov (indirectly)
Mr D Kilroy - - - -
Mr D Kilroy (indirectly) - - - -
Mr C Pellegrino (indirectly) - - - -

Details of options provided as remuneration and shares issued on any exercise of such options, together with terms and conditions 
can be found within the Directors’ Report.

The relevant interests of each Director in the share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2007 are as follows:
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Director Balance
July 1 2006

Options
Excercised Other changes Balance

June 30 2007
Ordinary Shares
Dr V Soultanov 495,809 - (300,000) 195,809
Dr V Soultanov (indirectly) 7,307,633 - 895,000 8,202,633
Mr D Kilroy 110,377 - - 110,377
Mr D Kilroy (indirectly) 6,487,728 - 395,000 6,882,728
Mr P Stedwell 12,000 - (12,000) -
Mr P Stedwell (indirectly) 800,000 - 27,012 827,012
Mr C Pellegrino (indirectly) 3,853,549 - - 3,916,361
Contributing Shares
Dr V Soultanov (indirectly) 1,682,151 - - 1,682,151
Dr V Soultanov - (912,456) (912,456) -
Mr D Kilroy 196,172 - - 196,172
Mr D Kilroy (indirectly) 4,426,442 - 422,344 4,848,786
Mr C Pellegrino (indirectly) 3,562,090 - - 3,562,090

d) Other transactions with key management personnel
Other transactions with key management personnel have been disclosed in note 25 (c).

Note 27. Segment information

The consolidated entity conducts biomedical research with Bioeffectives® in Australia and Russia.

Secondary reporting – geographical segments

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $ $ $

Australia 169,551     124,541  21,939,689        12,688,773   31,324 12,822
Russia 165,636     -          6,619,818          -                5,433,561 -        

335,187     -          28,559,507        12,688,773   5,464,885 12,822

Acquisition of property, 
plant and equipment, 

intangibles and other non 
current segment assets

Carrying amount of segment 
assets

Segment revenues 
from sales to external 

customers

Accounting policies
Segment information is prepared in conformity with Accounting Standard AASB 114 Segment Information and the following 
accounting policy:

Segment revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that 
can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment assets include all assets used by a segment and consist primarily 
of cash, receivables, inventories, property, plant and equipment and goodwill and other intangible assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and amortisation. While most of these assets can be directly attributed to individual segments, the carrying amounts of 
certain assets used jointly by segments are allocated based on reasonable estimates of usage. Segment liabilities consist primarily 
of trade and other creditors. Segment assets and liabilities do not include deferred income taxes.
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Note 28. Remuneration of auditors

During the year the following amounts were paid to the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and non-related audit fi rms:

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Assurance services
Audit services
BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd 32,983 12,000 32,983 12,000
D Penman & Co 3,000 2,500 -            -            
Total remuneration for audit services 35,983 14,500 32,983 12,000

Other Services
Taxation services provided by related practice
of auditor (BDO Kendalls) 21,000      8,250        21,000      8,250        

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Note 29. Contingencies

The parent entity and consolidated entity had no contingent liabilities or contingent assets at 30 June 2008.

Note 30. Capital and Leasing Commitments 

a) Capital commitments
The parent entity had a commitment to issue 3,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares to the shareholders of SibEX as part consideration 
for the purchase of part of the issued capital of SibEX. This issue was completed in December 2007. The shares were issued at a 
cost base of 26 cents per share as payment of $780,000 towards the total consideration.  

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Within one year -            780,000    -            780,000    
-            -            -            -            
-            780,000    -            780,000    

Consolidated entity Parent entity

Commitment to issue 3,000,000 fully paid 
ordinary shares to the shareholders of SiBex

Later than one year but not later than 5 years

b) Lease commitments

The parent entity and consolidated entity had no lease commitments at 30th June 2008.

Note 31. Share-based Payments

There were share-based payments made to Directors in the year ended 30 June 2008.
 
At a General Meeting held on 17 September 2007 Shareholders approved the issue of the following numbers of Unlisted Options 
(exercisable at $0.20 on or before 30 April 2008) to the Directors or their nominees.



42

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2008

Director Number of 
Options

Approval 
$1.40

Accounts Cost
$1.057

Expiry
$0.37

Dr Vagif Soultanov 150,000 $210,000 $158,550 $55,500
Mr Denis Kilroy 120,000 $168,000 $126,840 $44,400
Mr Charles Pellegrino 80,000 $112,000 $84,560 $29,600
Mr Peter Stedwell 80,000 $112,000 $84,560 $29,600
Total 430,000 $602,000 $454,510 $159,100

For the purposes of shareholder approval the Unlisted Options were valued at $1.40 on the basis of a Black Scholes valuation as 
detailed in the Notice of Meeting.
 
At the date of issue of the Unlisted Options (16 October 2007), the share price of Solagran ordinary securities closed at $1.05, 
indicating a value of $0.85 per Unlisted Option.
 
At the date of exercise (30 April 2008) Solagran ordinary securities (SLA) closed at $0.57 on ASX,  indicating a value of $0.37 per 
Unlisted Option.
 
To meet the requirements of IFRS the Unlisted Options were valued under an independent Black Scholes valuation approved by 
the auditors at $1.057 each in the Accounts. An amount of $454,510 was taken up as the cost of the Unlisted Options issued to 
Directors.
 
All Unlisted Options were exercised by the Directors or their nominees during the year.

Note 32. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by defi nition, seldom 
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below.

(i) Estimated impairment of intangible assets

The Group tests annually whether intangible assets with an indefi nite useful life have suffered any impairment, in accordance with 
the accounting policy stated in note 1(e). The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on value 
in use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions. 

(ii) Shared-based payment transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity settled share based payments at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes model 
taking into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date, the expected 
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and risk free interest rate for the term of the option.
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Note 33.  Variances between Final Financial Statements and Appendix 4E

When Appendix 4E was prepared the fi gures were based on preliminary fi gures of the Russian Subsidiary, which at the time were 
unaudited. The above fi nancial statements have been prepared using the Audited SibEX 30 June 2008 fi nancial statements.

Between these two reports there have been a number of adjustments. For comparability please fi nd below the balance sheet and 
profi t and loss statements that were used for SibEX in preparation of both the Appendix 4E and the fi nal consolidated fi nancial 
statements.

Balance Sheet
As at ended 30 June 2008

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 456,545 338,364 
Total Trade and Other Receivables 1,328,773 717,818 
Total Inventories 1,334,000 393,136 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 3,119,318 1,449,318 

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Total Other Financial Assets 62,227 196,636 
Total Property Plant and Equipment 5,364,955 4,969,000 
TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 5,427,182 5,170,500 

TOTAL  ASSETS 8,546,500 6,619,818 

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Total Trade and Other Payables 556,592 397,091 
Total Borrowings 181,818 181,818 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 738,410 578,909 

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES  
Total Borrowings 4,609,318 3,190,045 
Total Other Non Current Assets -                2,144,591 
TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,609,318 5,334,636 

 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,347,728 5,913,545 

 
NET ASSETS 3,198,772 706,273 

EQUITY
Contributed Equity 1,000,227 1,000,000 
Retained Earnings/(Accumulated Losses) 2,198,545 (293,727)

 
TOTAL EQUITY 3,198,772 706,273 

Appendix 4E
Final 30 

June 2008
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Income Statement
For the period ended 30 June 2008

REVENUE
Interest Income -                106,318 
Other Income 2,554,455 430,727 
Sales 660,500 397,136 
Total Revenue 3,214,955 934,182 

 
Total Cost of Goods Sold 486,955 356,591 
Total Corporate Expenses 296,136 493,182 
Total Other Expenses -                59,136 
Depreciation Expense -                461,500 
Total Interest Expense 183,273 -                

Total Expenses 966,364 1,370,409 
 

Profit or (Loss) before Tax 2,248,591 (436,227)
 

Income Tax Expense (773) 152,500 
 

Net Profit/(Loss) after Tax 2,247,818 (283,727)

Final 30 June 
2008Appendix 4E

There have also been adjustments to the parent entities accounts. These adjustments included the recording of Solagrans 
investments in BioProspect (fair value at 30 June of $505,000) and accrual of directors fees of $172,000.
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In the directors’ opinion:

(a) the fi nancial statements and notes set out in this Report are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 

requirements; and 
(ii) giving a true and fair view of the company’s  and consolidated entity’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2008 and of 

their performance for the fi nancial year ended on that date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable; and

(c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out in this Report of the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standards AASB 
124 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The directors have been given the declarations by the company secretary required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 

Peter Stedwell  
Director

Dated at Melbourne on this 29th day of September, 2008.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SOLAGRAN LIMITED

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial report of Solagran Limited, which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2008, 
and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash fl ow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary 
of signifi cant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the 
company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the fi nancial year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the group are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial report in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility 
includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial report that is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting 
Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards ensures that the fi nancial report, comprising the fi nancial statements and notes, complies with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the fi nancial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial report is free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial report. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
fi nancial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Qualifi cation – Opening Balances SibEX Limited
As disclosed in the accounts, the company acquired 60% ownership and control over SibEX Limited on 14 December 2007 and a 
further 25% on 1 January 2008. The records of the newly acquired entity are located in Siberia and have been audited for the year 
ended 30 June 2008. However, the company did not have separate fi nancial information as at the acquisition dates and the group 
has relied on management accounting information as at 31 December 2007 to calculate the fair value of assets and liabilities at 
acquisition.

AUDIT REPORT
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The auditors of the subsidiary are undertaking an audit of the acquisition balance sheets and this audit is incomplete at the date of 
this report.

Accordingly, we have been unable to perform suffi cient audit procedures in relation to the controlled entity’s fi nancial position as at 
the acquisition dates.

Should the audit have been completed, it may have resulted in the recognition of assets or liabilities that may materially impact on 
the fi nancial position and performance of the consolidated entity.

Qualifi ed Audit Opinion
In our opinion, except for the effects on the fi nancial report of the above qualifi cation (if any), the fi nancial report of Solagran Limited 
is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(a)  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2008 and  
  of their performance for the year ended on that date; and
  (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the  
  Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b)  the fi nancial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report within the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2008. The directors of the 
company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report within the directors’ report of Solagran Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008, complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd

 

Peter Toll
Director

Subiaco, Western Australia
Dated 30th September 2008

BDO Kendalls is a national association of separate partnerships and entities

AUDIT REPORT
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30 September 2008

The Directors
Level 11
492 St Kilda Road
MELBOURNE VIC 3004

Dear Sirs

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY PETER TOLL 
TO THE DIRECTORS OF SOLAGRAN LIMITED

As lead auditor for the audit of Solagran Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and 
belief, there have been:

• no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review; and
• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the review.

This declaration is in respect of Solagran Limited and the entities it controlled during the year.

 

Peter Toll
Director

BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd
Subiaco, Western Australia

BDO Kendalls is a national association of separate partnerships and entities

AUDIT REPORT
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Solagran Limited (the Company) and the Board of Directors (the Board) are committed to Corporate Governance and, to the 
extent they are applicable to the Company, have adopted the 10 Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice 
Recommendations as published by the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance Council in March 2003.

The Company and its controlled entities together are referred to as the Group in this Statement.  

The relationship between the Board and senior management is critical to the Group’s long-term success. The Directors are 
responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short and the longer term. Their key focus is to 
enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Group is properly managed. 

Day to day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy initiatives are delegated 
by the Board to the Chief Operating Offi cer or when that position is not fi lled, the Executive Directors.  

This Statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place during the fi nancial year, noting where practices 
depart from the ASX Corporate Governance Council recommendations and the Board’s reasons for an alternate approach. 
Where the Board supports a recommendation, but it has not yet been fully implemented, a complementary policy or practice 
has also been identifi ed.

The following additional information about the Company’s corporate governance practices is set out on the Company’s website at 
www.solagran.com

- Board Charter;
- Summary of policy on securities trading;
- Summary of continuous disclosure policy;
- Summary of arrangements regarding communication with shareholders;
- Summary of Company’s risk management policy; and
- Code of Conduct.

Principle 1: Lay a solid foundation for management and oversight
Council Recommendation 1.1: Formalise and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to 
management.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of Solagran Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The Board guides 
and monitors the business of the Company on behalf of shareholders, by whom they are elected and to whom they are 
accountable. The Board is responsible for setting corporate direction, defi ning policies and monitoring the business of the 
Company to ensure that it is conducted appropriately and in the best interests of shareholders. Details of the Board’s Charter 
are located on the Company’s website at (www.solagran.com).

The Board’s key objectives are to:

- Increase shareholder value within an appropriate framework which safeguards the rights and interests of the Company’s 
shareholders;

- To ensure the Company is properly managed and operates with effective cost and risk controls;  
- To ensure that the Company invests funds in properly managed research projects; and
- To ensure that the Company’s products (Bioeffectives) are given the opportunity to become commercial and viable products 

in the worldwide market.

Principle 2: Structure the Board to Add Value
Composition of the Board
Council Recommendation 2.1: The majority of the Board should be Independent Directors’.

There are no Independent Directors’ on the Board.

All Directors are Executive Directors.

The Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity to justify the expense of 
appointing additional independent non-executive Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Details of the members of the Board, their experience and expertise are set out in the Directors’ Report in the Annual Report. 

Council Recommendation 2.2: The chairperson should be an Independent Director.

Dr Vagif Soultanov is the Chairman of the Company. He is not an independent Director. 

The Board believes that Dr Vagif Soultanov is the person who best understands the technical nature and background of the 
Company’s business. Dr Soultanov is highly qualifi ed in the areas of Solagran’s business pursuit and can make informed 
decisions on all relevant issues falling within the scope of the role of a Chairman.

The Board considers that given these factors the appointment of an independent Chairman is not justifi ed.

Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer
Council Recommendation 2.3: The roles of chairperson and Chief Executive Offi cer should not be exercised by the same 
individual.

Dr Vagif Soultanov is the Chairman of the Company and currently the Company does not have a Chief Executive Offi cer.  
 
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring Directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant to their 
role and responsibilities, facilitating Board discussions and managing the Board’s relationship with the Company’s staff and 
management.  

The Executive Directors are currently responsible for implementing Group strategies and policies.   

Nomination Committee
Council Recommendation 2.4: The Board should establish a Nomination Committee.

Currently a separate Nomination Committee has not been formed. The Board considers that at this stage in the Company’s 
development, no benefi ts or effi ciencies are to be gained by delegating this function to a separate committee.  

The Board as a whole undertakes the process of reviewing the skill base and experience of existing Directors to enable identifi cation 
or attributes required in new Directors. Where appropriate independent consultants could be engaged to identify possible new 
candidates for the Board.

Independent Professional Advice
With the prior approval of the Chairman, Directors may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Term of Offi ce
The Company’s Constitution specifi es that Director’s must retire from offi ce on a two year rotational basis. 

Principle 3: Establish a Code of Conduct
Council Recommendation 3.1: Establish a Code of Conduct to guide the Directors, the Chief Executive Offi cer (or equivalent), 
the Chief Financial Offi cer (or equivalent) and any other key executives as to:

3.1.1 The practices necessary to maintain confi dence in the Company’s integrity;
3.1.2 The responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices.

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct to guide the Directors and Offi cers.

Prior to the adoption of the formal written Code of Conduct, the Board considers that its business practices, as overseen by the 
Board, were the equivalent to the Code of Conduct formally adopted.

Code of Conduct
All Directors and Offi cers will:

- Actively promote the highest standards of ethics and integrity in carrying out their duties for the Company;
 - Disclose any actual or perceived confl icts of interest of a direct or indirect nature of which they become aware and which they 

believe could compromise in any way the reputation or performance of the Company;

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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- Respect confi dentiality of all information of a confi dential nature, which is acquired in the course of the Company’s business 
and not disclose or make improper use of such confi dential information to any person unless specifi c authorisation is given 
for disclosure or disclosure is legally mandated;

- Deal with the Company’s customers, suppliers, competitors and each other with the highest level of honesty, fairness and 
integrity and to observe the rule and spirit of the legal and regulatory environment in which the Company operates; and 

- Protect the assets of the Company to ensure availability for legitimate business purposes and ensure all corporate opportunities 
are enjoyed by the Company and that no property, information or position belonging to the Company or opportunity arising 
from these are used for personal gain or to compete with the Company.

Trading in the Company’s Securities by Directors, Offi cers and Employees
Council Recommendation 3.2: Disclose the policy concerning trading in Company securities by Directors, Offi cers and 
employees.

The Board has adopted a policy and procedure on dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors, Offi cers and employees which 
prohibits dealing in the Company’s securities when those persons possess unpublished market price sensitive information. It also 
requires Directors to notify the Chairman of the Company when trading in the Company occurs. In the case of the Chairman, he 
must notify the Company Secretary. 

Directors must also notify the Company Secretary of any trade in the Company’s securities within 2 days of such trade occurring 
so that the Company Secretary can comply with ASX Listing Rule 3.19A.2 requirement to notify ASX of any change in a notifi able 
interest held by a Director.  

Principle 4: Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting
Council Recommendation 4.1: Require the Chief Executive Offi cer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Offi cer (or equivalent) 
to state in writing to the Board that the Company’s fi nancial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the 
Company’s fi nancial condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards.

The Company Secretary of the Company on behalf of the Board and after a resolution passed by the Board signs off the Directors’ 
Report, Directors’ Declaration and an audit representation letter addressed to the Auditor, which states that the Company’s fi nancial 
reports presents a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s fi nancial condition and operational results and are in 
accordance with relevant accounting standards.  

Audit Committee
Council Recommendation 4.2: The Board should establish an Audit Committee.

A separate Audit Committee has not been formed. The Board considers that at this stage in the Company’s development, no benefi ts 
or effi ciencies are to be gained by delegating this function to a separate committee.
  
The Board as a whole undertakes the functions normally associated with an Audit Committee. 

Council Recommendation 4.3: Structure the Audit Committee so that it consists of:

- Only non-executive Directors;
- A majority of Independent Directors;
- An independent chairperson, who is not the chairperson of the Board; and 
- At least 3 members.

Refer Council Recommendation 4.2.

Council Recommendation 4.4: The Audit Committee should have a formal charter.

Refer Council Recommendation 4.2.

Principle 5: Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure
Continuous Disclosure 
Council Recommendation 5.1: Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior management level of that compliance.
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The Company has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy that requires all Directors, Offi cers and Executives to inform the 
Chairman and the Company Secretary of any potentially material information as soon as practicable after they become aware of 
that information.

Information is material if it is likely that the information would infl uence investors who commonly acquire securities on ASX in 
deciding whether to buy sell or hold the Company’s securities. 

The Company Secretary is responsible for interpreting and monitoring the Company’s disclosure policy and where necessary 
informing the Chairman and the Board.

Prior to the adoption of the Continuous Disclosure Policy there were no written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance 
with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and accountability for the compliance however the policies and procedures enunciated 
in the formally adopted policy were applied prior to their adoption in writing.  
 
The Company Secretary has been nominated as the person responsible for communications with the ASX. This role includes 
responsibility for ensuring compliance with the Continuous Disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing 
and co-ordinating information disclosure to the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the public.    

Principle 6: Respect the Rights of Shareholders
Shareholder Communication
Council Recommendation 6.1: Design and disclose a communications strategy to promote effective communication with 
shareholders and encourage effective participation at general meetings.

All information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the Company’s web site as soon as it is disclosed to the ASX. 

The Company’s communication strategy requires communication with shareholders in an open, regular and timely manner so that 
the market has suffi cient information to make informed investment decisions on the operations and results of the Company. 

External Auditor  
Council Recommendation 6.2: Request the External Auditor to attend the Annual General Meeting and be available to answer 
shareholder questions about the conduct of the Audit and the preparation and content of the Auditor’s Report.

The External Auditor, BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd, is requested to attend the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company and be available to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the Audit and the preparation and content of the 
Audit Report.

Principle 7: Recognise and Manage Risk
Risk Management
Council Recommendation 7.1: The Board or appropriate Board Committee should establish policies on risk oversight and 
management.

The Board is responsible for risk management and control and they examine and consider areas of signifi cant business risk 
on an ongoing basis and implement policy to minimise exposure to these risks. 

Arrangements put in place by the Board to monitor risk management include:
- Technical review of all products prior to clinical trials and identifi cation of possible product risk factors in trials;
- Monitoring all product liability and insurance policies;
- Constant review of cash resources and cash projection; and 
- Review of staff structure and roles. 

 
The risk management policy of the Company will continue to be developed as its operations and risks evolve. 

Council Recommendation 7.2: The Chief Executive Offi cer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Offi cer (or equivalent) 
should state in writing that:

7.2.1 The statement given in accordance with best practice recommendation 4.1 (the integrity of fi nancial statements) is 
founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies adopted 
by the Board;
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7.2.2 The Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effi ciently and effectively 
in all material respects.

The Company complies with this recommendation.

Principle 8: Encourage Enhanced Performance
Performance Appraisal
Council Recommendation 8.1: Disclose the process for performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual 
Directors, and key executives.

The Board has adopted a self-evaluation process to measure its own performance during each fi nancial year. This process includes 
a review in relation to the composition and skills mix of the Directors of the Company. 

Principle 9: Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly
Council Recommendation 9.1: Provide disclosure in relation to the Company’s remuneration policies to enable investors 
to understand (i) the costs and benefi ts of those policies and (ii) the link between remuneration paid to Directors and key 
executives and corporate performance.

The Board determines the level of remuneration for Directors and executives based on the provision of services to the Company 
for executive management and for their services as Directors. Remuneration levels were set with reference to industry and market 
conditions and with regard to the size, nature and volume of operations and overall market capitalisation of the Company. In addition, 
all matters of remuneration will continue to be determined in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 requirements, especially in 
respect of related party transactions. That is, no Directors participate in any deliberations regarding his own remuneration or related 
issues.
 
Remuneration Committee
Council Recommendation 9.2: The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee.

A separate Remuneration Committee has not been formed. The Board considers that based on the Company’s stage of development, 
no benefi ts or effi ciencies are to be gained by delegating this function to a separate committee.  

Council Recommendation 9.3: Clearly distinguish the structure of the non-executive Directors’ remuneration from that of 
executives.

The Company complies with this recommendation.

Council Recommendation 9.4: Ensure that the payment of equity based executive remuneration is made in accordance with 
thresholds set in plans approved by shareholders.

The Company complies with this recommendation.

Principle 10: Recognise the Legitimate Interests of Stakeholders
Council Recommendation 10.1: Establish and disclose a Code of Conduct to guide compliance with legal and other obligations 
to legitimate stakeholders.

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Conduct.  

The Code of Conduct formalises, in written form, business practices and principles previously adopted by the Board.
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Top 20 Holders as at 28 September, 2008

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares Number %

Solana LLC 9,000,000 5.25
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Ltd 8,044,166 4.70
Avondry Pty Ltd 5,858,082 3.42
Bejjal Pty Ltd < Bejjal Super Fund A/c> 5,000,000 2.92
Adnil (VIC) Pty Ltd 4,760,000 2.78
Eastok Pty Ltd 3,238,883 1.89
Bronte Investments Pty Ltd 3,144,800 1.84
Petrograd Investments Pty Ltd 2,600,000 1.52
BioProspect Limited 2,500,000 1.46
Dr Deidre Christine O’Neill 2,336,667 1.36
BT Portfolio Services Limited <R & K Boscarato S/F A/c> 2,223,000 1.30
Mr Frank Hudson 2,175,000 1.27
Mr Peter Stedwell <Stedwell Family SF A/c> 2,000,000 1.17
Mr Warren John Humphreys 1,800,000 1.05
Gun Capital Management 1,690,000 0.99
Gasmere Pty Limited 1,552,000 0.91
Mr Geoffrey Mark Cottle 1,522,500 0.89
Mr Denis Kilroy & Ms Fiona Brown <DBK Superannuation Fund A/c> 1,520,108 0.89
Punshon’s Pty Ltd 1,461,316 0.85
Vladimir Serpikov 1,400,000 0.82

Report Total 63,826,522 37.27
Remainder 107,446,263 62.73
Grand Total 171,272,785 100.00

Range of Shares as at 29 September, 2008

Range Total 
Holders Units % Issued 

Capital

1-1,000 227 127,164 0.07
1,001-5,000 723 2,244,776 1.31
5,001-10,000 427 3,591,249 2.1
10,001-100,000 858 31,546,512 18.42
More than 100,001 246 133,763,084 78.1
Total 2,481 171,272,785 100.00

ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION



55ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Top 20 Holders as at 28 September, 2008

$0.20 Contributing Shares
(paid to $0.15) Number %

Petrograd Investments Pty Ltd 11,250,000 24.02
Mr Denis Kilroy & Ms Fiona Brown 3,431,810 7.33
Punshon’s Pty Ltd 3,150,445 6.73
Mr Raymond Tang & Ms Kristin Lim 1,700,000 3.63
Eastok Pty Ltd 1,682,151 3.59
S F P Superannuation Pty Ltd  < S & F Pellegrino Fam SF A/c > 1,506,079 3.22
Bronte Investments Pty Ltd 1,220,000 2.60
Mr Stephen Jacob  <Jacob Investments A/c> 1,202,946 2.57
Mr Charles Robert Todd & Ms Andrea Michelle Trebble 1,100,000 2.35
Mr Peter Stedwell  <Stedwell Family SF A/c> 1,000,000 2.11
Kilroy Brown & Associates Pty Ltd  <D & F Investment A/c> 874,033 1.87
Lois Lane Investments Pty Ltd  < Lois Lane Investments A/c> 750,000 1.60
Mr Darryl Arthur Wiggs & Mrs Nadia Wiggs  <Wiggs Super Fund A/c> 700,000 1.49
Graduate Software Pty Ltd  <Steve Wiggs Family A/c> 642,000 1.37
Mr Bruce Raymond Mcloughlin 615,290 1.31
BT Portfolio Services Limited  <R & K Boscarato S/F A/c> 605,000 1.29
Mr Lucius Vilkinas  <Vilkinas Super Fund A/c> 578,741 1.24
Mr David Christopher Kemp 551,135 1.18
Paul Joseph Davies and Thomas Davies  < Paul Joseph Davies S/F A/c> 508,344 1.09
Mr Perry Kenneth Moore + Mrs Jillian Frances Moore 485,400 1.04

Report Total 33,558,374 71.67
Remainder 13,736,128 28.33
Grand Total 47,294,502 100.00

Voting Rights
Each shareholder is entitled to receive notice of and vote at a general meeting of the Company.  At a general meeting, every 
shareholder present in person or by proxy, representative or attorney will have, on a show of hands or a poll, one vote for each 
share held.

Contributing shares of $0.20 each (SLACF) are paid to $0.15. At a general meeting each contributing share will count for 0.75 of 
one vote.
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